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CANADIAN LUMBER TRADE ALLIANCE, Plaintiff, v. UNITED STATES, ET
AL., Defendant.

Court No. 05–00032

THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA, Plaintiff, v. UNITED STATES ET AL.,
Defendant.

Court No. 05–00033

MEMORANDUM ORDER

Plaintiffs have moved to stay this case pending the outcome of an
ongoing NAFTA Extraordinary Challenge Committee (‘‘ECC’’) pro-
ceeding. Defendants oppose this motion.

This Court has discretion to stay its own proceedings. See Tak Fat
Trading Co. v. United States, 24 CIT 1376, 1376–77 (2000) (citations
omitted). While it is a long-standing principle that a party plaintiff
is the master of its complaint, ‘‘the power to stay proceedings is inci-
dental to the power inherent in every court to control the disposition
of the causes on its docket with economy of time and effort for itself,
for counsel, and for litigants.’’ Id. (citations omitted). Guiding its de-
cision whether to grant a stay, the court must ‘‘maintain an even bal-
ance,’’ taking into account the interests of the plaintiff, the defen-
dant, non-parties, and even the court itself. See Georgetown Steel
Co., LLC v. United States, 27 CIT , 259 F. Supp. 2d 1344 (2003)
(citations omitted).
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Plaintiffs argue that they have identified a number of factors war-
ranting a stay. These include the conservation of judicial resources,
the possibility that facts relevant to this case would change depend-
ing on the outcome of the ECC proceeding, and the expectation that
the stay would only last until approximately July or August 2005.
Significantly, the Canadian Labor Trade Alliance (‘‘CLTA’’) states
that if the ECC were to reject the United States’ challenge and Com-
merce were to vacate the implementation and Amendment to Or-
ders, CLTA could possibly dismiss certain claims. Also, CLTA argues
that after the ECC acts, the nature of this case will differ, in that
there will exist either two affirmative ITC determinations or one af-
firmative and one negative determination. Thus, plaintiffs argue
that this court should use its discretion to order a stay.

Defendants, on the other hand, oppose a stay by arguing that the
ultimate outcome of the ECC proceeding will have no effect on the
central issue in this case — whether the United States Trade Repre-
sentative and Department of Commerce acted within their statutory
authority. Defendants also question plaintiffs’ judicial economy argu-
ments, arguing that plaintiffs are attempting to manipulate the sys-
tem by filing separate actions before three different tribunals and
using one to stall litigation in the other. Defendants also posit that
the public interest would not be served by a stay in this matter.

Weighing these factors, the court finds that a stay is warranted.
The prospect of a refined and possibly narrower scope of litigation,
as well as the short duration of time requested for the stay, outweigh
any potential harm to defendants or to the public interest. Accord-
ingly, it is hereby

ORDERED that plaintiff ’s motion is granted; and it is further
ORDERED that the proceedings in this action are stayed pending

the outcome of the ongoing NAFTA Extraordinary Challenge Com-
mittee proceeding, Secretariat File No. ECC–2004–1904–01–USA.
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BEFORE: CARMAN, JUDGE

HANGZHOU SPRING WASHER CO., LTD., Plaintiff, v. UNITED
STATES, Defendant, and SHAKEPROOF ASSEMBLY COMPONENTS
DIVISION OF ILLINOIS TOOL WORKS, INC., Defendant-
Intervenor.

Court No. 04–00133

[Upon consideration of Plaintiff ’s Rule 56.2 motion for judgment upon the agency
record, Defendant and Defendant-Intervenor’s responses, and Plaintiff ’s reply, Plain-
tiff ’s motion is granted in part and denied in part. The Department of Commerce’s de-
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termination in Certain Helical Spring Lock Washers from the People’s Republic of
China, 69 Fed. Reg. 12,119 (Dept’s Commerce Mar. 15, 2004) (notice of final results of
antidumping duty admin. review) is affirmed in part and remanded in part.]

Dated: July 6, 2005

White & Case LLP (William J. Moran, William J. Clinton, Adams C. Lee, Emily
Lawson), Washington, D.C., for Plaintiff.

Peter D. Keisler, Assistant Attorney General; David M. Cohen, Director, Commercial
Litigation Branch, Civil Division, United States Department of Justice; Jeanne M.
Davidson, Deputy Director, Commercial Litigation Branch, Civil Division, United
States Department of Justice; David S. Silverbrand, Trial Attorney, Commercial Liti-
gation Branch, Civil Division, United States Department of Justice; James K. Lockett,
Senior Attorney, Office of Chief Counsel for Import Administration, United States De-
partment of Commerce, Of Counsel, for Defendant.

Hume & Associates PC (Robert T. Hume), Washington, D.C., for Defendant-
Intervenor.

OPINION

CARMAN, Judge: This matter comes before this Court on a mo-
tion for judgment on the agency record filed by Plaintiff Hangzhou
Spring Washer Company (‘‘Plaintiff ’’ or ‘‘Hangzhou’’). Plaintiff chal-
lenges the final results by the United States Department of Com-
merce (‘‘Defendant’’ or ‘‘Commerce’’) in Certain Helical Spring Lock
Washers from the People’s Republic of China, 69 Fed. Reg. 12,119
(Dep’t Commerce Mar. 15, 2004) (notice of final results of antidump-
ing duty admin. review) [hereinafter Final Results]. Plaintiff seeks
remand on the following four issues: (1) valuation of steel wire rod;
(2) valuation of plating; (3) valuation of overhead, selling, general
and administrative expenses (‘‘SG&A’’), and profit; and (4) request
for revocation. The parties concur regarding the remand request on
the issue of the subsidy suspicion determination. This Court affirms
in part and remands in part the Final Results as set forth below.
This Court has jurisdiction over this case pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 1581(c) (2000) and 19 U.S.C. § 1516a(a)(2)(A)(i) (2000).

BACKGROUND

This is the ninth administrative review of the antidumping duty
order pertaining to helical spring lock washers (‘‘HSLW’’) from the
People’s Republic of China (‘‘China’’), and the period of review
(‘‘POR’’) is from October 1, 2001, through September 30, 2002. Pur-
suant to 19 C.F.R. § 351.222(e)(1) (2004),1 Hangzhou requested re-
vocation of the antidumping duty in this administrative review,

1 19 C.F.R. § 351.222(e)(1) states:

Antidumping proceeding. During the third and subsequent annual anniversary months
of the publication of an antidumping order or suspension of an antidumping investiga-
tion, an exporter or producer may request in writing that the Secretary revoke an order
or terminate a suspended investigation. . . .
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claiming this is the third consecutive year it sold the subject mer-
chandise not below normal value. (Pl.’s Mem. of P. & A. in Supp. of
Hangzhou’s Mot. for J. on the Agency R. at 38 (‘‘Pl.’s Mem.’’).) How-
ever, Commerce found that HSLW were being sold in the United
States at below normal value by Hangzhou during this POR. Final
Results, at 12,120. Accordingly, Commerce determined not to revoke
the antidumping duty order with respect to Hangzhou pursuant to
19 C.F.R. § 351.222(b)(1) (2004).2 Id.

On October 2, 2002, Commerce published Antidumping or
Countervailing Duty Order, Finding, or Suspended Investigation, 67
Fed. Reg. 61,849 (Dep’t Commerce Oct. 2, 2002) (opportunity to re-
quest administrative review). In response to Hangzhou and
Defendant-Intervenor Shakeproof Assembly Components Division of
Illinois Tool Works, Inc.’s (‘‘Defendant-Intervenor’’ or ‘‘Shakeproof ’’)
timely request, Commerce initiated a review. Initiation of Antidump-
ing and Countervailing Duty Administrative Reviews and Requests
for Revocation in Part, 67 Fed. Reg. 70,402 (Dep’t Commerce Nov. 22,
2002).

Because it is undisputed that the China qualifies as a non-market
economy (‘‘NME’’), Commerce constructed a normal value for the
various factors of production by gathering surrogate normal value
data from market economy sources using a factors of production
methodology. Commerce invited interested parties to submit infor-
mation regarding surrogate values. (Public Record (‘‘P.R.’’) 13–14.)
After Commerce issued the initial and first supplemental question-
naires and received responses from Hangzhou and deficiency com-
ments from Shakeproof, the concept of subsidy suspicion against this
subject merchandise appeared on the record. (P.R. 19, 23, 24, 28, 30,
39, 49.)

On June 20, 2003, Shakeproof requested that Commerce apply its
subsidy suspicion policy in its pre-preliminary determination com-
ments. Shakeproof cited subsides found in earlier Commerce
countervailing duty investigations involving cut-to-length steel from
the United Kingdom (‘‘UK’’) and contended that Hangzhou’s wire rod
supplier may have benefitted. Commerce then issued a second
supplemental questionnaire to Hangzhou and subsequently con-
ducted a verification of Hangzhou’s second supplemental question-
naire responses. (P.R. 45.) On October 31, 2003, Commerce issued a
memorandum on the valuation of the factors of production, which

2 19 C.F.R. § 351.222(b)(1)(i), in relevant part, reads:

In determining whether to revoke an antidumping duty order or terminate a suspended
antidumping investigation, the Secretary will consider:

(A) whether all exporters and producers covered at the time of revocation by the order
or the suspension agreement have sold the subject merchandise at not less than nor-
mal value for a period of at least three consecutive years . . .
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determined that India would be the surrogate country and detailed
the valuation of the factors of production. (P.R. 49.)

On November 7, 2003, Commerce published Certain Helical
Spring Lock Washers from the People’s Republic of China, 68 Fed.
Reg. 63,060 (Dep’t Commerce Nov. 7, 2003) (preliminary results of
antidumping duty admin. review) [hereinafter Preliminary Results].
In the Preliminary Results, Commerce declined to value wire rod at
the price Hangzhou paid its market economy supplier because
Hangzhou’s supplier may have benefitted from subsidies. Prelimi-
nary Results at 63,063. Commerce instead used surrogate country
data to determine the value of the steel wire rod and the value of the
plating factors of production. Commerce also opted to use more con-
temporaneous surrogate data than formerly used in prior reviews.

In December 2003, Hangzhou submitted additional information on
surrogate value. In January 2004, Hangzhou and Shakeproof sub-
mitted case and rebuttal briefs. (P.R. 58–61.) On March 15, 2004,
Commerce issued the Final Results. Commerce found that
Hangzhou sold HSLW at below normal value during the POR, calcu-
lated Hangzhou’s dumping margin to be 28.59 percent ad valorem,
and rejected Hangzhou’s request for revocation. Final Results, 69
Fed. Reg. at 12,119–20. Hangzhou timely appealed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a challenge to Commerce’s final determination in
an antidumping administrative review, the Court will uphold
Commerce’s decision unless it is ‘‘unsupported by substantial evi-
dence on the record, or otherwise not in accordance with law. . . .’’
Tariff Act of 1930, § 516A(b)(1)(B) (codified as amended at 19 U.S.C.
§ 1516a(b)(1)(B)(i) (2000)). ‘‘Substantial evidence is more than a
mere scintilla. It means such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind
might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.’’ Consol. Edison
Co. v. NLRB, 305 U.S. 197, 229 (1938) (citations omitted); see also
Micron Tech., Inc. v. United States, 117 F.3d 1386, 1393 (Fed. Cir.
1997). ‘‘As long as the agency’s methodology and procedures are rea-
sonable means of effectuating the statutory purpose, and there is
substantial evidence in the record supporting the agency’s conclu-
sions, the court will not impose its own views as to the sufficiency of
the agency’s investigation or question the agency’s methodology.’’
Ceramica Regiomontana, S.A. v. United States, 10 CIT 399, 404–05,
636 F. Supp. 961 (1986) (citations omitted), aff ’d, 810 F.2d 1137 (Fed.
Cir. 1987).

In determining whether Commerce’s interpretation and applica-
tion of the antidumping statute is in accordance with law, this Court
must consider ‘‘whether Congress has directly spoken to the precise
question at issue,’’ and if not, whether the agency’s interpretation of
the statute is reasonable. Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Res. Def.
Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 842–43 (1984). ‘‘[A] court must defer to
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an agency’s reasonable interpretation of a statute even if the court
might have preferred another.’’ Koyo Seiko Co. v. United States, 36
F.3d 1565, 1570 (Fed. Cir. 1994) (citation omitted). Deference is
based upon a recognition that Commerce has special expertise in ad-
ministering the anti-dumping law. Ta Chen Stainless Steel Pipe, Inc.
v. United States, 298 F.3d 1330, 1335 (Fed. Cir. 2002).

PARTIES’ CONTENTIONS

Plaintiff appeals four main issues: (1) valuation of steel wire rod;
(2) valuation of plating; (3) valuation of overhead, SG&A, and profit;
and (4) request for revocation. The contentions of the parties are set
forth below.

A. Plaintiff’s Contentions

(1) Valuation of steel wire rod

Hangzhou argues that Commerce’s rejection of its market economy
prices for steel wire rod is an arbitrary and unreasonable departure
from its past practice. Hangzhou points to Commerce’s longstanding
preference for using market economy prices. (Pl.’s Mem. at 8.)
Hangzhou cites to case law requiring that Commerce rely upon ‘‘par-
ticular, specific and objective evidence’’ to reject market prices under
the subsidy suspicion policy. (Id. at 9.) Hangzhou contends that
Shakeproof ’s speculation that Hangzhou’s supplier benefitted from
additional subsidies does not meet the evidentiary requirements to
invoke the subsidy suspicion policy. (Id. at 14.)

Hangzhou also argues that there is no evidence that any possible
subsidy from its UK supplier benefitted Hangzhou since it pur-
chased steel wire rod imports through a third country trading com-
pany in Hong Kong. (Pl.’s Mem. at 24.) Hangzhou cites to Certain
Color Television Receivers from the People’s Republic of China, 69
Fed. Reg. 20,594, 20,597 (Apr. 16, 2004) (notice of final determina-
tion) [hereinafter Color TVs3], in support of its assertion that the
presumption of a subsidy does not automatically pass through to an
intermediate trading company. (Pl.’s Mem. at 24.)

3 In Color TVs, Commerce reasoned:

The regulation does not address those instances where subsidized exports are shipped
through a third-country trading company to its final destination. The trading company
in the third country is not subject to the investigation, and cannot therefore be presumed
to have benefitted from any subsidies received by the producer or exporter of the mer-
chandise.

Issues and Decision Memorandum for the Antidumping Duty Investigation of Certain
Color Television Receivers from the People’s Republic of China, A–570–884, cmt. 8 (Apr. 16.
2004).
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(2) Valuation of plating

Hangzhou contends Commerce’s decision to use a single surrogate
price quote for plating services is contrary to established practice
and not in accordance with law. Hangzhou argues that Commerce
improperly used a single surrogate price rather than following its
past practice to value the factors of production used by Hangzhou’s
plating subcontractors. (Id. at 25.) Hangzhou argues that Commerce
deviated from its practice followed in the eight previous reviews by
disregarding Hangzhou’s subcontractor’s factors of production for
plating. Hangzhou asserts that in the prior reviews Commerce re-
jected the very method applied in this review because the use of a
single surrogate price impermissibly double-counts the amounts for
overhead, SG&A and profit. (Id. at 26 (citing Certain Helical Spring
Lock Washers from the People’s Republic of China, 67 Fed. Reg.
8,520, 8,522, cmt. 2 (Dep’t Commerce Feb. 25, 2002) (final results of
antidumping duty admin. review) [hereinafter Seventh Review].)

Hangzhou also asserts that using a surrogate value for plating
will effectively treat Hangzhou’s plating subcontractor as an inde-
pendent producer by calculating separate overhead, SG&A, and
profit values, in violation of 19 C.F.R. § 351.401(h) (2004).4 Accord-
ing to Hangzhou, this methodology is inexplicably inconsistent with
past reviews, in which Commerce found that Hangzhou controlled
its subcontractors. (Pl.’s Mem. at 27.) Because Hangzhou controlled
its subcontractors, Commerce did not consider the subcontractors to
be producers for purposes of calculating plating expenses.

In past administrative reviews of HSLWs, [Commerce] ac-
knowledged that applying the surrogate overhead, SG&A, and
profit to the subcontracted plating operations before being in-
corporated as a material input in the respondent’s normal
value calculation would result in double-counting because all
overhead, SG&A, and profit expenses were already captured by
the application of the surrogate overhead, SG&A[,] and profit
ratios at the final production stage.

(Pl.’s Mem. at 28 (citing Certain Helical Spring Lock Washers from
the People’s Republic of China, 65 Fed. Reg. 31,143, 31,144, cmt. 3
(Dep’t Commerce May 16, 2000) (final results of antidumping duty
admin. review); Certain Helical Spring Lock Washers from the Peo-
ple’s Republic of China, 64 Fed. Reg. 13,401, 13,404, cmt. 2 (Mar. 18,
1999) (final results of antidumping duty admin. review)).)

4 19 C.F.R. § 351.401(h) states:

Treatment of subcontractors (‘‘tolling’’ operations). The Secretary will not consider a tol-
ler or subcontractor to be a manufacturer or producer where the toller or subcontractor
does not acquire ownership, and does not control the relevant sale, of the subject mer-
chandise or foreign like product.
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(3) Valuation of overhead, SG&A, and profit

Hangzhou contends that Commerce’s decision to use general, con-
temporaneous data rather than industry specific, less recent data to
calculate surrogate financial ratios is unsupported by regulations,
evidence and facts on the record. (Pl.’s Mem. at 32.) Hangzhou as-
serts that Commerce’s use of 1,927 public companies’ ratios from the
Reserve Bank of India Bulletin (‘‘RBI Bulletin data’’) is not industry-
specific and therefore not representative of Hangzhou’s operations.
(Id.) Hangzhou argues that Commerce should have continued to use
the RBI data set ‘‘Processing and Manufacturing: Metals, Chemicals,
and Products Thereof ’’ (‘‘metals data’’) that it used in all the prior
administrative reviews. (Id. at 33.) Hangzhou claims that availabil-
ity of more recent but generic data is insufficient justification to de-
part from Commerce’s practice in the previous reviews, in which the
agency used the older but more industry specific data.5 (Id. at 35.)
Hangzhou asserts that Commerce failed to explain its rationale for
imposing time parameters on the available data and why these cho-
sen parameters have an impact on the reliability of the financial
data. (Id. at 37.)

(4) Request for revocation

Hangzhou contends that Commerce’s change in factors of produc-
tion methodology is of particular concern because the antidumping
duty order against its HSLW was eligible for revocation in this re-
view. (Pl.’s Mem. at 38.) Hangzhou pointed out that in the two previ-
ous reviews Commerce found that Hangzhou had not sold subject
merchandise at less than fair value. (Pl.’s Mem. at 38 (citing Seventh
Review; Certain Helical Spring Lock Washers from the People’s Re-
public of China, 67 Fed. Reg. 69,717 (Dep’t Commerce Nov. 19, 2002)
(final results of antidumping duty admin. review) [hereinafter
Eighth Review]).) Hangzhou argues that Commerce’s unwarranted
change in established practice resulted in ‘‘substantially increasing
Hangzhou’s margin in this review and disqualifying Hangzhou for
revocation.’’ (Pl.’s Mem. at 38.) Hangzhou claims that Commerce
‘‘must be bound by its prior actions so that parties have a chance to
‘purge themselves’ of antidumping liabilities.’’ (Id. (citing Shikoku
Chem. Corp. v. United States, 16 CIT 382, 387, 795 F. Supp. 417
(1992)).) Hangzhou requests that any remand decision include a di-
rection to Commerce to reconsider Hangzhou’s request for revocation
of the antidumping duty order. (Id. at 39.)

5 The general RBI Bulletin data is from 2000 to 2001, and the industry specific metals
data is from 1992. (Def.’s Resp. at 30.)
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B. Defendant’s Contentions

(1) Valuation of steel wire rod

Although Commerce admits to using market prices in the past re-
views, Commerce explains that the record in this review is different.
Issues and Decision Memorandum for the Final Results of Anti-
dumping Duty Administrative Review of Certain Helical Spring Lock
Washers from the People’s Republic of China, A–570–822, cmt. 1
(Mar. 8, 2004) [hereinafter Decision Memo]. In this review, Com-
merce received evidence that suggested for the first time that
Hangzhou’s steel wire rod prices may have been distorted by subsi-
dies. Commerce claims that its ‘‘past findings in this proceeding do
not preclude [it] from considering [new] information and changing
its treatment of Hangzhou’s [steel wire rod] prices based on that in-
formation.’’ Id. Although Commerce acknowledges its preference for
using actual market prices to value factors of production, Commerce
explains that legislative history limits the use of market economy
prices to ‘‘only untainted market economy prices,’’ and in this review,
the market prices may have been tainted by subsidy. (Def.’s Resp. at
14.)

Although Commerce contends that its decision to invoke the sub-
sidy suspicion policy was reasonable based upon Shakeproof ’s sub-
missions, Commerce admits that the subsidies were generally used
by the UK steel industry and admittedly were not tied to a particu-
lar steel product. Commerce points out that this Court has recog-
nized that even a general subsidy may provide a reasonable basis to
conclude that Hangzhou’s supplier may have benefitted from the al-
leged subsidy. (Def.’s Resp. at 18–19 (citing China Nat’l Mach. Imp.
& Exp. Corp. v. United States, 264 F. Supp. 1229, 1238 (CIT 2003)).)

While Commerce concedes that Color TVs, 69 Fed. Reg. at 20,594,
represents a change of policy, Commerce points out that this change
occurred after this matter’s Final Results were issued. Notwith-
standing the subsequent timing, Commerce requests a voluntary re-
mand on the issue of the subsidy suspicion policy. (Def.’s Resp. at
19.) ‘‘Specifically, upon remand, Commerce would consider the issue
of whether the trading company included any benefit from the sub-
sidy when it sold to Hangzhou.’’ (Id.) Hangzhou consents to this re-
mand request. (Reply Br. in Supp. of Pl.’s Rule 56.2 Mot. for J. upon
the Agency R. at 1.)

(2) Valuation of plating

Commerce admits that it veered from its past practice in this re-
view by using a single surrogate plating price instead of a plating
build-up price. Decision Memo at 16. Nevertheless, Commerce notes
that it prefers surrogate prices over build-up prices when the respon-
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dent is not a fully integrated producer.6 Id. at 17. Hangzhou is not a
fully integrated producer because it is unable to plate its own HSLW.
However, in prior reviews, the only available plating data was
Hangzhou’s platers’ factors of production. Id. In contrast, in this re-
view, Shakeproof introduced another option – a single plating price
quote. Therefore, Commerce could employ its preference for surro-
gate prices. Id. Commerce asserts its change in this review actually
reflects its ‘‘normal practice.’’ Id. Moreover, Commerce found that the
single surrogate plating price was the best available information be-
cause ‘‘it accurately reflects Hangzhou’s business operations and the
costs it incurs to produce plated HSLWs.’’ Id. Finally, Commerce as-
serts that it has ‘‘broad discretion in selecting surrogate values,’’ and
it has exercised this discretion. Id. at 19.

(3) Valuation of overhead, SG&A, and profit

Commerce contends that its decision to use more contemporane-
ous and nonspecific data rather than specific and less contemporane-
ous data is statutorily permissible pursuant to its discretionary
power authorized in 19 U.S.C. § 1677b(c) (2000). (Def.’s Resp. at 27.)
Although conceding that the metals data is more specific than RBI
Bulletin data, Commerce responds it exercised its discretion in valu-
ing contemporaneity over specificity. (See id.; see also Decision Memo
at 21.) Commerce argues that contemporaneous data is the best
available information ‘‘because the Indian economy has been quickly
transforming in the past few years, negating the relevancy of the
nine year old data.’’ (Def.’s Resp. at 27.) Commerce further asserts
that using more contemporaneous data was consistent with its duty
to calculate antidumping rates with maximum accuracy. (Id. at 29.)

(4) Request for revocation

Commerce contends it properly determined that Hangzhou did not
qualify for revocation of the antidumping order because Hangzhou
did not meet the regulatory requirement of three consecutive zero or
de minimis margins pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 351.222(b)(1). (Def.’s
Resp. at 36.) Although Commerce found Hangzhou to have de
minimis margins in the two previous reviews, Commerce deter-
mined that Hangzhou sold subject merchandise at less than normal
value during this review. (Id.) Commerce contends that it must con-
sider new evidence presented during each review without consider-
ation that the review might be determinative of a revocation. (Id.)

6 Plating build-up is when the factors of production are consumed by unaffiliated plating
subcontractors. See Decision Memo at 16.

54 CUSTOMS BULLETIN AND DECISIONS, VOL. 39, NO. 30, JULY 20, 2005



C. Defendant-Intervenor’s Contentions

(1) Valuation of steel wire rod

Shakeproof contends that Commerce properly rejected Hangzhou’s
submission of market economy prices for the valuation of steel wire
rod. Although noting that Commerce typically prefers market
economy import prices, Shakeproof emphasizes that such preference
is discretionary and ‘‘does not override Commerce’s established prac-
tice to disregard a market price if Commerce has a ‘reason to believe
or suspect’ the market economy input benefitted from subsidies.’’
(Def.-Intervenor’s Resp. in Opp’n to Pl.’s Mot. for J. upon the Agency
R. at 3–4. (‘‘Def.-Int.’s Resp.’’).) Citing legislative history, Shakeproof
argues that Commerce should disregard market economy prices
where there is a reason to believe or suspect the prices may be
dumped or subsidized. (Def.-Int.’s Resp. at 9.) Shakeproof purports
that it is sufficient that Commerce suspected subsidization for it to
apply the subsidy suspicion policy to the valuation of steel wire rods.

(2) Valuation of plating

Shakeproof contends that Commerce’s decision to use a single sur-
rogate price for the valuation of plating services was supported by
substantial evidence and otherwise in accordance with law. (Def.-
Int.’s Resp. at 17.) Shakeproof supplied a single surrogate price
quote that involved an arm’s length transaction in quantities similar
to Hangzhou’s and was comparable to the plating value calculated
from separate inputs. (Id.) Commerce used Shakeproof ’s single price
quote to value plating. (Id.) Shakeproof ’s contentions are essentially
the same as Commerce’s (id. at 16–17), have been duly considered,
and need not be reiterated in their entirety.

(3) Valuation of overhead, SG&A, and profit

Shakeproof contends Commerce correctly chose the more contem-
poraneous RBI Bulletin data to value overhead, SG&A, and profit.
(Id. at 18.) As with the previous subsection, Shakeproof ’s conten-
tions are virtually similar to Commerce’s (id. at 17–18), have been
duly considered, and will not be repeated.

ANALYSIS

Congress provided Commerce with a statutory scheme for calcu-
lating dumping margins. When the antidumping investigation in-
volves a non-market economy, as is China, 19 U.S.C. § 1677b(c) gov-
erns. This section provides that Commerce construct a normal value
of the subject merchandise from the best available information on
the valuation of the factors of production. 19 U.S.C. § 1677b(c).7

7 19 U.S.C. § 1677b(c), in pertinent part, states:
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Courts have noted that ‘‘the process of constructing foreign market
value for a producer in a nonmarket economy country is difficult and
necessarily imprecise.’’ Nation Ford Chem. Co. v. United States, 166
F.3d 1373, 1377 (Fed. Cir. 1999) (citation omitted). The critical ques-
tion when valuing the factors of production is ‘‘whether the method-
ology used by Commerce is based on the best available information
and establishes antidumping margins as accurately as possible.’’
Shakeproof Assembly Components, Div. of Ill. Tool Works, Inc. v.
United States, 268 F.3d 1376, 1382 (Fed. Cir. 2001) (‘‘Shakeproof
III’’). Because there is no statutory definition, courts have read this
provision to give broad discretion to Commerce on what constitutes
the best available information. See, e.g., Luoyang Bearing Corp. v.
United States, 347 F. Supp. 2d 1326, 1333 (CIT 2004) (‘‘The statute,
however, does not define the phrase ‘best available information’. . . .
Commerce is given broad discretion ‘to determine margins as accu-
rately as possible. . . .’ ’’) (internal citation omitted); Shakeproof As-
sembly Components Div. of Ill. Tool Works, Inc. v. United States, 23
CIT 479, 481, 59 F. Supp. 2d 1354 (1999) (‘‘Shakeproof I’’) (‘‘The stat-
ute requires Commerce to use the best available information, but
does not define that term. . . . If Congress had desired to restrict the

(1) In general

If—

(A) the subject merchandise is exported from a nonmarket country, and
(B) the administering authority finds that available information does not permit the

normal value of the subject merchandise to be determined under subsection (a) of this
section,

the administering authority shall determine the normal value of the subject merchan-
dise on the basis of the value of the factors of production utilized in producing the mer-
chandise and to which shall be added an amount for general expenses and profit plus the
cost of containers, coverings, and other expenses. Except as provided in paragraph (2),
the valuation of the factors of production shall be based on the best available information
regarding the values of such factors in a market country or countries considered to be
appropriate by the administering authority.

. . .

(3) Factors of production

For purposes of paragraph (1), the factors of production utilized in producing merchan-
dise include, but are not limited to—

(A) hours of labor required,
(B) quantities of raw materials employed,
(C) amounts of energy and other utilities consumed,
(D) representative capital cost, including depreciation.

(4) Valuation of factors of production

The administering authority, in valuing factors of production under paragraph (1), shall
utilize, to the extent possible, the prices or costs of factors of production in one or more
market economy countries that are—

(A) at a level of economic development comparable to that of the nonmarket economy
country, and

(B) significant producers of comparable merchandise.
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material on which Commerce could rely, it would have defined best
available information.’’) (citations omitted). Therefore, a reviewing
court’s role is ‘‘not to evaluate whether the information Commerce
used was the best available, but rather whether Commerce’s choice
of information is reasonable.’’ Peer Bearing Co.-Changshan v. United
States, 298 F. Supp. 2d 1328, 1336 (CIT 2003). Accordingly, the hall-
mark of a reviewing court’s standard of best available information is
reasonableness.

Furthermore, there is no statutory requirement for Commerce to
use a particular methodology to calculate valuation for factors of pro-
duction. See, e.g., Shakeproof III, 268 F.3d at 1382 (‘‘the statute does
not require the factors of production to be ascertained in a single
fashion’’) (citing Lasko Metal Prod., Inc. v. United States, 43 F.3d
1442, 1446 (Fed. Cir. 1994)); Peer Bearing, 298 F. Supp. 2d at 1336
n.3 (‘‘the statute does not require Commerce to follow any single ap-
proach’’). Not only can it chose which methodology to employ, Com-
merce can also change it. Although courts have found that Com-
merce should not change its methodology in the final hour,8 more
recent case law upholds a new methodology if found reasonable. See,
e.g., Luoyang, 347 F. Supp. 2d at 1339 (‘‘an agency decision to change
its methodology should be examined under the Chevron test and sus-
tained if the new methodology is reasonable’’); Koyo Seiko, 36 F.3d at
1575 (holding that Commerce’s stated rationale for changing its
methodology was reasonable). Nevertheless, when an agency departs
from its practice, it must ‘‘clearly set forth’’ the ground ‘‘so that the
reviewing court may understand the basis of the agency’s action and
so may judge the consistency of that action with the agency’s man-
date.’’ Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. Wichita Bd. of Trade,
412 U.S. 800, 808 (1973); see also Shanghai Foreign Trade Enter. Co.,
Ltd. v. United States, 318 F. Supp. 2d 1339, 1346 (CIT 2004) (‘‘Com-
merce . . . has an additional ‘duty to explain its departure from prior
norms.’ ’’) (citations omitted).

Although courts have viewed the statute as a guideline to assist
Commerce in the process of constructing foreign market value for a
producer in a non-market economy, they have recognized ‘‘this sec-
tion also accords Commerce wide discretion in the valuation of fac-
tors of production in the application of those guidelines.’’ Nation
Ford, 166 F.3d at 1377; see also Fuyao Glass Indus. Group Co., Ltd.
v. United States, Slip Op. 03–169, 2003 Ct. Int’l Trade LEXIS 171, at
*22 (CIT Dec. 18, 2003) (‘‘this Court and the Court of Appeals for the

8 In Shikoku, the plaintiff relied on Commerce’s permission to adjust home market prices
to reflect repackaging costs paid to its subcontractor. However, in the final determination,
Commerce retroactively applied a new methodology excluding those repackaging costs. On
these facts, this Court held that Commerce’s change in methodology at this late stage went
against principles of fairness. 16 CIT at 388. The facts of the instant case are distinguish-
able. There is no argument about retroactive changes of methodology on the record. Thus,
any reliance on Shikoku is misplaced.
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Federal Circuit have repeatedly upheld Commerce’s broad discretion
in valuing factors of production’’). Commerce’s discretion is not with-
out limitation, however, as the statute’s directive is ‘‘to construct the
subject merchandise’s normal value as it would have been if the
[non-market economy] country were a market economy country.’’
Peer Bearing, 298 F. Supp. 2d at 1336 (citation omitted); see also
CITIC Trading Co., Ltd. v. United States, Slip Op. 03–23, 2003 WL
1587093, at *6 n.12 (CIT Mar. 4, 2003) (‘‘This discretion . . . is con-
strained by the underlying objective of the statute; to obtain the
most accurate dumping margins possible.’’).

(1) Valuation of steel wire rod

In this review, valuation of steel wire rod embodies the issue of the
subsidy suspicion policy. In light of its recent Color TVs determina-
tion, 69 Fed. Reg. at 20,597, Commerce requests voluntary remand
on this issue, and Hangzhou consents. This Court grants Com-
merce’s request for voluntary remand. However, Commerce requests
a limit on its review on remand to whether any benefit was trans-
ferred to Hangzhou from its third country trading company. Because
this request is for a limited review, this Court believes the issue of
subsidy suspicion policy merits a short discussion.

Contrary to prior reviews where Hangzhou’s market economy
prices were used, Commerce invoked a subsidy suspicion policy in
this review. For the first time in HSLW review history, Shakeproof
placed on the record a subsidization issue. Commerce reasonably
notes that its ‘‘past findings in this proceeding do not preclude [it]
from considering [new] information and changing its treatment of
Hangzhou’s [steel wire rod] prices based on [new] information in this
administrative review.’’ Decision Memo at 7. By invoking the subsidy
suspicion policy, Commerce went against its own regulatory norm of
using market economy prices pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 351.408(c)(1)
(2004).9 Commerce defends its position by pointing to legislative his-
tory which states, ‘‘In valuing such factors [of production], Com-
merce shall avoid using any prices which it has reason to believe or
suspect may be dumped or subsidized prices.’’ H.R. Conf. Rep. No.
100–576, at 590 (1988) [hereinafter OTCA Legis. Hist.]. This Court
finds Commerce and Shakeproof ’s arguments persuasive that the
Congressional directive for subsidy suspicion and regulatory prefer-

9 19 C.F.R. § 351.408(c)(1) states:

Information used to value factors. The Secretary will normally use publicly available in-
formation to value factors. However, where a factor is purchased from a market economy
supplier and paid for in a market economy currency, the Secretary normally will use the
price paid to the market economy supplier. In those instances where a portion of the fac-
tor is purchased from a market economy supplier and the remainder from a nonmarket
economy supplier, the Secretary normally will value the factor using the price paid to the
market economy supplier.
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ence for market prices are not mutually exclusive. Rather, Com-
merce’s rationale that market prices will be used, as in past reviews,
when the subsidy suspicion policy is not invoked is reasonable. As
aptly stated in China National, ‘‘given that the overarching purpose
of the antidumping and countervailing duty law is to counteract
dumping and subsidies, the court cannot conclude that Congress
would condone the use of any value where there is a ‘reason to be-
lieve or suspect’ that it reflects dumping or subsidies.’’ 264 F. Supp.
2d at 1238; see also Luoyang, 347 F. Supp. 2d at 1340.

Because the subsidy suspicion policy has no statutory definition,
this Court has provided instruction regarding the interpretation of
the subsidy suspicion standard:

In attempting to define a similar phrase, ‘‘reasonable grounds
to believe or suspect,’’ which appears in 19 U.S.C. § 1677b(b)(1)
(1999), this Court observed that ‘‘in order for reasonable suspi-
cion to exist there must be ‘a particularized and objective basis
for suspecting’ the existence of certain proscribed behavior, tak-
ing into account the totality of the circumstances, the whole
picture.’’ . . . This insistence on ‘‘a particularized and objective
basis’’ has been interpreted to mean a ‘‘ ‘demand for
specificity.’ ’’ . . . Therefore, the ‘‘reason to believe or suspect’’
standard at issue here must be predicated on particular, spe-
cific, and objective evidence.

China Nat’l, 264 F. Supp. 2d at 1239 (internal citations omitted); see
also Peer Bearing, 298 F. Supp. 2d at 1336. Although invocation of
the suspect standard requires specificity, this does not mean that
subsidies must be company specific. This Court has found subsidies
‘‘generally available in the exporting market-economy country,’’ but
not company specific, as sufficient evidence on the record to affirm
application of the suspect suspicion policy. See Peer Bearing, 298 F.
Supp. 2d at 1337 (‘‘The Court finds that Commerce made a logical in-
ference that [the respondent’s] supplier may have benefitted from
the generally available subsidies.’’) (emphasis added). This Court
notes that Congress did ‘‘not intend for Commerce to conduct a for-
mal investigation to ensure that such prices are not dumped or sub-
sidized, but rather intend[ed] that Commerce base its decision on in-
formation generally available to it at that time.’’ OTCA Legis. Hist.,
at 590–91; see also Luoyang, 347 F. Supp. 2d at 1341; Peer Bearing,
298 F. Supp. 2d at 1336; Fuyao, 2003 Ct. Intl. Trade LEXIS 717, at
*36–37. In Peer Bearing, the subsidies were generally available, but
this Court held that ‘‘[a]ny level of subsidization found in the export-
ing country is enough evidence to support a determination that Com-
merce had ‘reason to believe or suspect’ that prices are distorted.’’
298 F. Supp. 2d at 1337. Once Commerce presents adequate evidence
to support a subsidy suspicion, a rebuttable presumption is estab-
lished that prices are distorted. Luoyang, 347 F. Supp. 2d at 1342.
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‘‘The presumption shifts the burden to the party challenging Com-
merce’s determination to present evidence demonstrating that its
supplier did not benefit from such subsidies.’’ Id. In Luoyang, this
Court suggested that the challenger’s burden would be met by suffi-
cient evidence that the prices paid were market-determined or cred-
ible evidence that the supplier did not participate in any subsidies
programs. Id. at 1342 n.10.

This Court does not decide whether the challenging party has met
its burden in this case, but rather, this Court grants voluntary re-
mand for Commerce to conduct its review consistent with the discus-
sion herein.

(2) Valuation of plating

Commerce valued plating using a single surrogate price submitted
by Shakeproof rather than build-up prices from subcontractors of
Hangzhou. Although Hangzhou claims this is a departure from past
practice in prior reviews and Commerce concedes this point, Com-
merce explains that this change is consistent with its established
preferences. Commerce has articulated its preference for surrogate
prices over build-up prices in its determinations when a producer is
not fully integrated. See Issues and Decision Memorandum for the
Antidumping Duty Investigation of Polvinyl Alcohol from the People’s
Republic of China, A–570–879, cmt. 1 (Dep’t Commerce Aug. 4, 2003)
(‘‘If the NME [ ] self-produces an input, we take into account the fac-
tors utilized in each stage of the production process. . . . If, on the
other hand, the firm was not integrated, . . . [Commerce] valued the
purchased [product] and not the factors [of production].)’’ Commerce
stated that because Hangzhou does not have the capacity to plate
HSLW but rather must subcontract out this task, it is not a fully in-
tegrated producer. Decision Memo at 17. Commerce explained that
in past reviews, the build-up price was the only option, but in this
review, another option was introduced so Commerce could exercise
its discretionary authority and utilize its preferred policy. Commerce
reasoned that a single surrogate price was the best available infor-
mation in this review ‘‘because it accurately reflects Hangzhou’s
business operations and the costs it incurs to produce plated
HSLWs.’’ Id. This Court does not find that Commerce changed its
methodology in this situation, as Hangzhou suggests. Because Com-
merce had two choices in this review, where in prior reviews it had
only one, this Court finds that Commerce considered the available
new information and acted within the bounds of reason when mak-
ing its decision based on the best available information.

Moreover, the record reflects Commerce’s assertion of its preferred
policy for valuing factors for integrated versus non-integrated pro-
ducers, and the record does not reflect any dispute that Hangzhou is
a non-integrated producer. Although Commerce may have previously
found that Hangzhou controlled its subcontractors, this does not ne-
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gate Commerce’s current finding that Hangzhou remains a non-
integrated producer. This Court cannot make a judgment on Com-
merce’s preferred policy of using a surrogate price over a build-up
approach for non-integrated producers but instead finds that Com-
merce did not act arbitrarily in reaching its decision to use a single
surrogate price. See Peer Bearing, 298 F. Supp. 2d at 1336 (‘‘Com-
merce may not act arbitrarily in reaching its decision.’’).

Regarding the issue of the single surrogate price as double-
counting of overhead, SG&A, and profit, Hangzhou argues that this
Court should treat its subcontractors as ‘‘affiliated’’ despite the fact
that ‘‘Hangzhou explained that it is not affiliated with [its] platers.’’
Decision Memo at 18; see also P.R. 45. This Court declines to create
facts on the record. Explaining that the record contained surrogate
value information for two groups of companies that both lacked spe-
cific information on integration, Commerce analyzed the record and
selected the best available information without regard to the surro-
gate overhead, SG&A, and profit. Decision Memo at 18. This Court
defers to Commerce as to what constitutes the best available infor-
mation and finds that Commerce’s decision regarding the issue of
double-counting for overhead, SG&A, and profit has a ‘‘rational con-
nection between the facts found and the choice made.’’ Shanghai
Foreign Trade, 318 F. Supp. 2d at 1346 (quotation and citations omit-
ted); see also Timken Co. v. United States, 25 CIT 939, 944, 166 F.
Supp. 2d 608 (2001) (‘‘[T]he statute grants to Commerce broad dis-
cretion to determine the ‘best available information’ in a reasonable
manner on a case-by-case basis.’’).

Accordingly, this Court holds that Commerce’s change in method-
ology to use a single surrogate price in this review is supported by
substantial evidence on the record or otherwise in accordance with
law.

(3) Valuation of overhead, SG&A, and profit

Regulation 19 C.F.R. § 351.408(c)(4) (2004) states that Commerce
‘‘normally will use non-proprietary information gathered from pro-
ducers of identical or comparable merchandise in the surrogate
country’’ to value overhead, SG&A, and profit. In this review, how-
ever, Commerce decided to use the general but more contemporane-
ous data submitted by Shakeproof. This was a departure from the
previous reviews, where Commerce used the specific but less con-
temporaneous industry specific data provided by Hangzhou. As
stated above, a change in methodology is permissible, but it must be
supported by substantial evidence on the record. See Atchison, 412
U.S. at 808.

Commerce, therefore, has two tasks to explain: (1) why it chose to
ignore the regulatory norm and (2) why it departed from past prac-
tice. This Court finds that Commerce provided sufficient reasons for
both. This Court recognizes that the regulations, like the statute, es-

U.S. COURT OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE 61



tablish a structure that is not mandatory but rather provides guid-
ance. See Shakeproof III, 268 F.3d at 1381. Since neither the statute
nor the regulations speak to the issue of contemporaneity versus
specificity and case law has not delineated a bright line rule on the
matter, Commerce has the statutory discretion to give greater
weight to one over the other, provided it offers a reasoned explana-
tion when such a decision deviates from past practice.10 Here, Com-
merce explained that the use of more contemporaneous data is ‘‘con-
sistent with its duty to ensure antidumping duty rates . . . are as
accurate as possible’’ (Def.’s Resp. at 29), given that ‘‘the Indian
economy has been transforming quickly in the past few years, negat-
ing the relevancy of the nine year old data’’ (Def.’s Resp. at 27). This
Court finds this explanation reasonable for both inquires.

Although this Court has upheld the favoring of specificity, it was
not done so at the expense of contemporaneity. The court in Yantai
Oriental Juice Co. v. United States considered that the generalized
data was ‘‘dramatically more outdated’’ than the specific data. Slip
Op. 02–56, 2002 WL 1347018, at *11 (CIT June 18, 2002) (finding
that Commerce’s decision to value SG&A on the basis of outdated
generalized rather than contemporaneous specific data was not sup-
ported by substantial evidence on the record); see also CITIC, 2003
WL 1587093, at *6 (‘‘This court, however, has repeatedly recognized
that Commerce’s practice is to use surrogate prices from a period
contemporaneous with the period of investigation.’’). This Court does
not decide, however, whether contemporaneity should be valued over
specificity without direct statutory instruction because a reviewing
court is prohibited from substituting its judgment for that of the
agency. See Koyo Seiko, 36 F.3d at 1570 (‘‘[A] court must defer to an
agency’s reasonable interpretation of a statute even if the court
might have preferred another.’’) (citation omitted).

Accordingly, this Court holds that Commerce’s decision to use the
more contemporaneous but general data is supported by substantial
evidence on the record or otherwise in accordance with law.

10 The Court notes that Commerce has favored specificity where there was a five year
span between the specific versus non-specific data. See Heavy Forged Hand Tools from the
People’s Republic of China, 62 Fed. Reg. 11,813, 11,816 (Dep’t Commerce Mar. 13, 1997) (fi-
nal results of antidumping duty admin. review) [hereinafter 1997 Hand Tools] (in valuing
labor costs, Commerce chose to use industry specific data from 1990 rather than less spe-
cific data from 1992 during the period of review for 1995–96); Partial-Extension Steel
Drawer Slides with Rollers from the People’s Republic of China, 60 Fed. Reg. 54,472,
54,474–76 (Dep’t Commerce Oct. 24, 1995) (notice of final determination of sales at less
than fair value) [hereinafter Drawers] (in valuing rivet inputs, Commerce chose to use in-
dustry specific data from 1994 rather than the less specific data from the period of investi-
gation during 1995). Commerce defends its decision in the present matter, however, in that
the ‘‘metals data are eight years older than the RBI [Bulletin] data, and are much further
removed from the POR than the data available to [Commerce] in 1997 Hand Tools and
Drawers.’’ Decision Memo at 21.
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(4) Request for revocation

This Court notes that this ninth review was determinative of a re-
vocation. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 351.222(b), Commerce denied re-
vocation because it found Hangzhou sold subject merchandise at less
than normal value in this review. Although the decision as it stands
is supported by substantial evidence or otherwise in accordance with
law, this Court finds that the issue of revocation may be affected by
the voluntary remand. If upon review Commerce finds Hangzhou’s
dumping margin to be de minimis, then revocation may be war-
ranted. This Court remands the issue of revocation along with the is-
sue of subsidy suspicion policy, as these issues may affect each other.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court affirms in part and remands
in part Commerce’s Final Results. This Court affirms Commerce’s
determinations on the issues of valuation of plating, and overhead,
SG&A, and profit as being supported by substantial evidence on the
record or otherwise in accordance with law. This Court grants Defen-
dant’s request for voluntary remand on the issue of subsidy suspi-
cion policy regarding the valuation of steel wire rod. This Court also
directs remand on the issue of revocation insofar as the voluntary re-
mand review may affect the outcome of the revocation.
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OPINION

CARMAN, JUDGE: This matter was transferred to this Court on
the direction of the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Cir-
cuit (‘‘Ninth Circuit’’), which opined that this Court has exclusive ju-
risdiction to hear this case under 28 U.S.C. § 1582(3) (2000). The
parties concur that this Court has jurisdiction. This Court held oral
argument to consider the issue of jurisdiction on April 20, 2005.
Upon consideration of parties’ oral presentations and briefs, this
Court holds it has jurisdiction to entertain this matter pursuant to
28 U.S.C. § 1582(3) and 28 U.S.C. § 1340 (2000).

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On November 2, 2000, Plaintiff United States commenced this ac-
tion against Defendants Universal Fruits and Vegetables Corpora-
tion (‘‘Universal’’), founder-president David Pai, a.k.a. Shih Wei Pai
(‘‘David Pai’’), and employee-father Jason Pai, a.k.a. Chung Sheng
Pai (‘‘Jason Pai’’),1 alleging violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(7)
(2000).2 Plaintiff originally filed a motion for summary judgment in
the United States District Court, Central District of California,
Western Division.

On December 17, 2001, the District Court granted summary judg-
ment for Plaintiff and ordered defendants Universal and David Pai
to pay $1,957,237, and defendant Jason Pai to pay $1,952,237.
United States v. Universal Fruits & Vegetables Corp., No. CV 00–
11698–R, 2001 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 25815, at *1–2 (C.D. Cal. Dec. 3,
2001) (‘‘Universal I’’). These awards were based on the actual duties
avoided of $644,079, which was trebled pursuant to 31 U.S.C.
§ 3729(a)(7), plus $5,000 in civil penalties for each of the four false
statements made to the United States Customs Service, now known
as the Bureau of Customs and Border Protection (‘‘Customs’’). Defen-
dants timely appealed on March 13, 2002, arguing that the district

1 For convenience, this Court will refer to the defendants collectively as ‘‘Defendants,’’
unless addressing a particular defendant.

2 31 U.S.C. § 3729 is the False Claims Act (‘‘FCA’’). Subsection 3729(a)(7), commonly
called the ‘‘Reverse False Claims Act,’’ states:

(a) Liability for certain acts.–Any person who–

. . .

(7) knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false record or statement
to conceal, avoid, or decrease an obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the
Government,

is liable to the United States Government for a civil penalty of not less than $5,000 and
not more than $10,000, plus 3 times the amount of damages which the Government sus-
tains because of the act of that person. . . .
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court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because this Court has ex-
clusive jurisdiction for actions involving customs duties pursuant to
28 U.S.C. § 1582.

On March 17, 2004, the Ninth Circuit reversed the case for lack of
subject matter jurisdiction. United States v. Universal Fruits & Veg-
etables Corp., 362 F.3d 551 (9th Cir. 2004) (‘‘Universal II’’). On June
2, 2004, upon Plaintiff ’s request, the Ninth Circuit amended its
original decision and remanded the case with instruction for the dis-
trict court to transfer the case to this Court. The Ninth Circuit held
that the district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction and left to
this Court ‘‘the question of its own jurisdiction.’’ United States v.
Universal Fruits & Vegetables Corp., 370 F.3d 829, 836–37 (9th Cir.
2004) (‘‘Universal III’’).

DISCUSSION

The issue before this Court is whether it has jurisdiction to hear
this case. Both parties concur that this Court may exercise subject
matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1582(3). (See Pl.’s Br.
Regarding Jurisdiction at 1; Def.’s Br. Concerning the Ct.’s Subject
Matter Jurisdiction of This Action at 1; Hr’g Tr. at 4:20–24, 33:17–
19.) For the reasons set forth, this Court holds that it has subject
matter jurisdiction to hear this case.

A. Law-of-the-Case

1. Transferred Cases

This case was transferred to this Court by the district court at the
direction of the Ninth Circuit pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1631 (2000).3

The United States Supreme Court apprised courts that the law-of-
the-case doctrine4 governs the issue of transfer of cases. Chris-
tianson v. Colt Indus. Operating Corp., 486 U.S. 800, 816 (1988). The
Supreme Court instructed that ‘‘[u]nder law-of-the-case principles, if
the transferee court can find the transfer decision plausible, its ju-
risdictional inquiry is at an end.’’ Id. at 819. The Supreme Court rec-
ognized that ‘‘situations might arise, of course, in which the trans-
feree court considers the transfer ‘clearly erroneous.’ But as ‘[t]he

3 28 U.S.C. § 1631, in relevant part, states:

Whenever a civil action is filed in a court . . . and that court finds that there is a want of
jurisdiction, the court shall, if it is in the interest of justice, transfer such action or ap-
peal to any other such court in which the action . . . could have been brought at the time
it was filed . . . and the action . . . shall proceed as if it had been filed in . . . the court to
which it is transferred on the date upon which it was actually filed in . . . the court from
which it is transferred.
4 The Supreme Court explained ‘‘the law-of-the-case doctrine ‘merely expresses the prac-

tice of the courts to generally refuse to reopen what has been decided, not a limit to their
power.’ ’’ Christianson v. Colt Indus. Operating Corp., 486 U.S. 800, 817 (1988) (citation
omitted).
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doctrine of the law-of-the-case is . . . a heavy deterrent to vacillation
on arguable issues,’ such reversals should necessarily be excep-
tional. . . .’’ Id. (internal citations omitted). This Court has refined
this inquiry by explaining that to establish ‘‘plausibility [ ] requires
that [the transferee] court examine its jurisdiction to determine
whether the transfer was proper.’’ U.S. ex rel. Felton v. Allflex USA,
Inc., 21 CIT 1344, 1346, 989 F. Supp. 259 (1997). For the reasons be-
low, this Court finds that the Ninth Circuit directive and resulting
district court transfer of this matter were plausible. Therefore, the
inquiry is at an end because jurisdiction lies here under the
Christianson standard.

2. Applicable Statutes

The applicable jurisdictional statutes are 28 U.S.C. § 1582(3), 28
U.S.C. § 1340, and 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a).

(a) Jurisdiction over actions commenced by the United States

Although generally vested with jurisdiction to hear civil actions,
district courts are divested of jurisdiction if an action falls within
one of the ‘‘specific grants of exclusive jurisdiction to the Court of In-
ternational Trade.’’ K Mart Corp. v. Cartier, 485 U.S. 176, 182–83
(1988). One of the CIT’s specific statutory grants of jurisdiction is 28
U.S.C. § 1582(3).5 This statute provides that the Court of Interna-
tional Trade has exclusive jurisdiction to hear a case if it is (1) a civil
action (2) arising out of an import transaction (3) commenced by the
United States (4) to recover customs duties. This Court finds that
this matter falls squarely into this statutory grant: (1) this is a civil
action (2) that arose out of an avoidance to pay antidumping duties
that was (3) commenced by the United States (4) to recover the cus-
toms duties that were avoided. ‘‘In enacting 28 U.S.C. § 1582,6 Con-

5 28 U.S.C. § 1582(3) reads:

The Court of International Trade shall have exclusive jurisdiction of any civil action
which arises out of an import transaction and which is commenced by the United States–

. . .

(3) to recover customs duties.
6 28 U.S.C. § 1582 (1976) was in effect when the United States Supreme Court decided

Jerlian Watch, 597 F.2d at 687. The exclusive jurisdiction over civil actions language of this
statute reads essentially the same then as now for the purposes of this opinion. The Cus-
toms Courts Act of 1980, Pub. L. No. 96–417, 94 Stat. 1727 (1980), not only expanded the
Customs Court’s scope of jurisdiction but also renamed it the Court of International Trade.
The Supreme Court explained these changes as Congressional intent ‘‘to remedy the confu-
sion over the division of jurisdiction between the Customs Court (now the Court of Interna-
tional Trade) and the district courts and to ‘ensure . . . uniformity in the judicial decision-
making process.’ ’’ K Mart, 485 U.S. at 188 (citation omitted). Legislative history further
explains that ‘‘this legislation changes the name of the United States Customs Court to the
United States Court of International Trade. The new name more accurately describes the
court’s clarified and expanded jurisdiction and its new judicial functions relating to interna-
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gress intended that matters involving customs laws should be heard
by one tribunal so that uniformity of decision would result.’’ Jerlian
Watch Co., Inc. v. U.S. Dep’t of Commerce, 597 F.2d 687, 691 (9th Cir.
1979). If district courts throughout the country adjudicated customs
cases, there would tend to be less uniformity of treatment. It is clear
that one of the reasons Congress created a national court was to se-
cure uniformity of treatment in one tribunal of customs disputes. See
Jerlian Watch, 597 F.2d at 691 (‘‘If the district court should have ju-
risdiction over [matters involving customs laws] . . . the Customs
Court would be denied jurisdiction in the greatest area of its exper-
tise. We do not believe that Congress intended these results.’’). In
conformity with Congressional intent and supported by case law as
cited above, this Court holds it has exclusive jurisdiction to entertain
this case pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1582(3).

(b) Jurisdiction which is mutually exclusive

Aside from the specific grant of jurisdiction conferred by 28 U.S.C.
§ 1582, the Court of International Trade may also claim jurisdiction
under § 28 U.S.C. § 1340 (2000). This statute is particularly in-
structive where the Court of the International Trade and district
courts may have jurisdictional conflicts. The statute provides that
district courts with original jurisdiction for actions ‘‘arising under
any Act of Congress providing for internal revenue, or revenue from
imports . . . except matters within the jurisdiction of the Court of In-
ternational Trade.’’ 28 U.S.C. § 1340 (emphasis added). Courts have
interpreted this statutory language as mutually exclusive, whereby
a district court has jurisdiction over the causes of action stated
therein if the Court of International Trade does not. See Jerlian, 597
F.2d at 690 (‘‘The Customs Court has exclusive jurisdiction over cus-
toms matters. 28 U.S.C. § 1582. Conversely, jurisdiction over cus-
toms matters is denied to the district courts by 28 U.S.C. § 1340.’’).
Courts have historically upheld the statutory structure and Congres-
sional intent regarding mutually exclusive jurisdiction of the Court
of International Trade in customs matters. See, e.g., Cottman Co. v.
Dailey, 94 F.2d 85, 88 (4th Cir. 1938) (‘‘Congress has provided a com-
plete system of corrective justice with respect to matters arising un-
der the customs laws. . . . ‘This system of corrective justice being
complete in itself, it must be concluded that Congress did not intend
to allow any other method to redress supposed wrongs occurring in
the operation of the laws in relation to the collection of [customs]
revenues.’ ’’) (citations omitted); J.C. Penney Co. v. U.S. Treasury
Dep’t, 439 F.2d 63, 66 (2d Cir. 1971) (‘‘[N]ot only [does] the Customs
Court have jurisdiction over customs matters, but if that jurisdiction

tional trade.’’ H.R. Rep. No. 96–1235, at 3732 (1980). Because the renaming the Customs
Court to the Court of International Trade reflected expanded jurisdiction, decisions of the
Customs Court that have not been overturned will be treated as good law in this opinion.
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[is] to be exercised effectively in accordance with a complete, integral
system of customs adjudication, it must be exclusive.’’); Hector
Rivera Siaca v. United States, 7 CIT 10, 12 (1984) (holding that the
district court had no jurisdiction because the claim arose from cus-
toms agents’ attempts to collect customs duties); cf. United States v.
Shabahang Persian Carpets, Ltd., 22 CIT 1028, 1032, 27 F. Supp. 2d
229 (1998) (holding that the CIT had no jurisdiction to entertain an
Internal Revenue Service tax assessment claim under 28 U.S.C.
§ 1340).

Because the claim in the instant case arises from Defendants’ al-
leged avoidance of antidumping duties and Customs seeks to recover
the unpaid customs duties, this Court finds the subject matter of the
case falls within the jurisdiction of the Court of International Trade.
In addition to the statutory mandate of 28 U.S.C. § 1582(3), this
Court holds it has exclusive jurisdiction to hear this case pursuant to
28 U.S.C. § 1340.

(c) Jurisdiction over actions alleging false claims

When discussing the issue of jurisdiction under the False Claims
Act, this Court must address 31 U.S.C. § 3732. Its heading reads
‘‘[f]alse claims jurisdiction.’’ The provision states in pertinent part
that ‘‘[a]ny action under section 3730 [civil actions for false claims]
may be brought in any judicial district in which the defendant or, in
the case of multiple defendants, any one defendant can be found, re-
sides, transacts business, or in which any act proscribed by section
3729 [false claims] occurred. . . . ’’ 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a). Case law pro-
vides guidance on the scope of this provision. The United States
Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit (‘‘Second Circuit’’) conducted
a thorough and comprehensive analysis of § 3732(a) by parsing the
statutory language and discussing the legislative history. United
States ex rel. Thistlethwaite v. Dowty Woodville Polymer, Ltd., 110
F.3d 861, 865–68 (2d Cir. 1997).

In Dowty, the Second Circuit looked at the plain language of the
statutory provisions and found that the first sentence of the
§ 3732(a) does not mention jurisdiction but rather ‘‘is concerned
principally with the location in which an action under § 3730 [civil
actions for false claims] may be commenced.’’ 110 F.3d at 865. After
comparing the language of § 3732 with like statutory provisions, the
Second Circuit concluded that ‘‘the first sentence of § 3732(a) is a
provision of the kind that typically governs only venue.’’ Id.; see also
Shekoyan v. Sibley Int’l Corp., 217 F. Supp. 2d 59, 73 n.15 (D.D.C.
2002) (finding proper venue pursuant to the language of § 3732(a)).
The Second Circuit also rejected the proposition that the provision’s
heading – ‘‘[f]alse claims jurisdiction’’ – transmutes this venue provi-
sion into one of subject matter jurisdiction. Dowty, 110 F.3d at 866.
The Second Circuit took its cue from the United States Supreme
Court, which stated that ‘‘headings and titles are not meant to take
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the place of the detailed provisions of the [statutory] text. Nor are
they necessarily designed to be a reference guide or a synopsis.’’ Bhd.
of R.R. Trainsmen v. Baltimore & O.R. Co., 331 U.S. 519, 528 (1947).
The Supreme Court noted the ‘‘wise rule that the title of a statute
and the heading of a section cannot limit the plain meaning of the
text.’’ Trainsmen, 331 U.S. at 528–29 (citation omitted). Based on the
precedent of Trainsmen, the Second Circuit thus concluded that ‘‘the
substance and structure of § 3732(a) indicate clearly that that [sic]
provision governs venue rather than subject matter jurisdiction.’’
Dowty, 110 F.3d at 866. The Ninth Circuit added to the Second Cir-
cuit’s analysis:

[W]e add the observation that, far from supplanting the CIT’s
ability to hear FCA actions, § 3732 complements it. For, while
the CIT’s venue already is effectively universal, see 28 U.S.C.
§ 256,7

the number of district court venues in which FCA suits could be
brought would be quite limited in the absence of § 3732. . . . In
a sense, then, § 3732 simply brings venue in the district courts
into line with the generous venue options already made avail-
able to the CIT– but does not somehow operate to bar the CIT
from exercising its jurisdiction over appropriate FCA actions.

Universal III, 370 F. 3d at 836 n.13. Accepting the Second and Ninth
Circuits’ detailed analyses, this Court finds that § 3732(a) does not
affect its subject matter jurisdiction over this case.

This Court does note, however, that the United States Court of Ap-
peals for the Federal Circuit (‘‘Federal Circuit’’) has read § 3732 to
be a jurisdictional limit on false claims actions. See LeBlanc v.
United States, 50 F.3d 1025, 1031 (Fed. Cir. 1995) (holding that
§ 3732 limited false claims jurisdiction to district courts in qui tam
suits). LeBlanc involved a whistleblower in a tort action, and the is-
sue on appeal was proper jurisdiction. This was a case of jurisdiction
shopping. LeBlanc originally brought the suit in a district court,
which dismissed the case. The plaintiff then appealed to the United
States Court of Appeals for the First Circuit (‘‘First Circuit’’), which
affirmed the lower court’s dismissal. After the Supreme Court denied

7 28 U.S.C. § 256 (2000) states:

(a) The chief judge may designate any judge or judges of the court to proceed, together
with necessary assistants, to any port or to any place within the jurisdiction of the
United States to preside at a trial or hearing at the port or place.
(b) Upon application of a party or upon his own initiative, and upon a showing that the
interests of the economy, efficiency, and justice will be served, the chief judge may issue
an order authorizing a judge of the court to preside in an evidentiary hearing in a foreign
country whose laws do not prohibit such a hearing: Provided, however, That an interlocu-
tory appeal may be taken from such an order pursuant to the provisions of section
1292(d)(1) of this title, and the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit
may, in its discretion, consider the appeal.
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LeBlanc’s petition for a writ of certiorari, LeBlanc filed suit in the
Court of Federal Claims, which also dismissed the suit. Id. at 1028.
On appeal from the Court of Federal Claims, the Federal Circuit,
like the First Circuit, affirmed the lower court’s dismissal. Id. at
1031. In LeBlanc, based upon its statutory interpretation of § 3732,
the Federal Circuit created a bright line rule that ‘‘qui tam suits8

may only be heard in the district courts.’’ Id. at 1031. This bright line
rule, however, is inapposite to the instant matter because this case is
not a qui tam suit. The key distinguishable and decisive factor is
that this case was commenced by the United States. Accordingly,
this Court holds that neither 31 U.S.C. § 3732 nor case law bar the
Court of International Trade from subject matter jurisdiction over
this matter.

B. Court of International Trade and False Claims Act

This False Claims Act suit is an issue of first impression before
this Court. In 1997, a False Claims Act action appeared in this
Court, but that case was retransferred for lack of subject matter ju-
risdiction because it was a qui tam suit. See Allflex, 21 CIT at 1344.
Allflex involved a relator’s False Claims Act suit, which arose out of
the defendant’s failure to pay import duties. Allflex involved two is-
sues: (1) whether False Claims Act cases fell within the exclusive ju-
risdiction of the district courts, and if not (2) whether this court had
subject matter jurisdiction over the case pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 1582. The Allflex court first addressed the issue of this Court’s
subject matter jurisdiction. The Allflex court reasoned that the real-
tor commenced the action rather than the government, and thus,
this Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction. The Allflex court con-
cluded, ‘‘Because this action was not ‘commenced by the United
States,’ it is not within the subject matter jurisdiction of the court.’’
21 CIT 1349. Accordingly, the Allflex court retransferred the case to
the district court. Subsequently, a district court concurred with the
Allflex decision. ‘‘The CIT held [in Allflex], and I agree, that the mere
fact that the United States is the real party in interest does not nec-
essarily lead to the conclusion that the action was ‘commenced by
the United States’ for the purposes of 28 U.S.C. § 1582.’’ Vallejo v.
Investronica, Inc., 2 F.2d 330, 334 (W.D.N.Y. 1998). Because the ju-
risdictional requirements of 28 U.S.C. § 1582 were not met, the All-

8 Black’s Law Dictionary definition of ‘‘qui tam action’’ is:

An action brought under a statute that allows a private person to sue for a penalty, part
of which the government or some specified public institution will receive.

Black’s Law Dictionary 1262 (7th ed. 1999).

After statutory examination of 31 U.S.C. § 3730, this Court defined a qui tam suit for pur-
poses of 28 U.S.C. § 1582 as that which is ‘‘ ‘commenced by’ the private actor, not the Gov-
ernment.’’ Allflex, 21 CIT at 1349.
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flex court did not reach the issue of whether False Claims Act actions
fall within the exclusive jurisdiction of the district courts.

Allflex was a qui tam suit and thus turned on the court’s interpre-
tation of ‘‘commenced by the United States.’’ In contrast, this case is
not a qui tam suit, and there is no dispute that the action was com-
menced by the United States, thereby satisfying the jurisdictional
requirements of 28 U.S.C. § 1582. Because this Court holds it has
subject matter jurisdiction to hear this matter, the issue of the sub-
stance of the False Claims Act is once again before this Court. This
time, however, the issue is ripe.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court holds that it has subject mat-
ter jurisdiction to entertain this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 1528(3) and 28 U.S.C. § 1340.
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